
Meeting of:  Cabinet
Date: Thursday, 12th March, 2020
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth B&C , First Floor, Training & 

Conference Suite, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Apologies 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

3  Urgent Items of Business 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4  Items for Exclusion of Public and Press 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting.

5  Special Guardianship 3 - 39

To consider the attached report of the Monitoring Officer

Cabinet Members
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Allen Brett

Public Document Pack



Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell
Councillor Kieran Heakin Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Carol Wardle

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James

01706 924711/924715
alison.james@Rochdale.Gov.UK



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 12 March 2020
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services
Report Author Monitoring Officer
Public/Private Document Public

 Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman
Finding of Maladministration

Executive Summary

    
1.     To advise Members of the findings of the Local Government & Social Care 

Ombudsman (LG&SCO) and the action that must be taken by the Cabinet 
when receiving a report of fault causing injustice on the part of the Council, in 
accordance with the statutory provisions. The report also tables a draft Special 
Guardianship Support Policy for consultation. 

             
Recommendation

2.  (a) That the draft Special Guardianship Support Policy is approved for 
consultation, before returning to Cabinet for post consultation approval.

(b) That Cabinet decides whether or not to accept the Ombudsman’s 
recommendations in full, in part, or wholly reject them and give reasons 
for their decision.

(c) Subject to Cabinet’s decision on the principle, any payments to be 
made to the full class of Special Guardians be administered through a 
compensation scheme, the governance of which will be established by 
the Director of Children’s Services and Chief Finance Officer in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Cabinet is legally required to consider the LG&SCO’S recommendations set 
out in paragraph 4.15 of this report and decide how it intends to respond.

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required (in accordance with section 5A
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989) to report an LG&SCO finding 
of fault causing injustice on the part of the Council. 

Members must consider the LG&SCO’s recommendations along with the 
options available. His report is attached at Appendix 1, the contents of which 
are self-explanatory. Members will note the names used in the report are not 
the real names of the people involved, as they are protected from publication 
because of statutory anonymity.

Two Acts of Parliament govern the actions the Council must now take in 
response to the LG&SCO’s report. They are the Housing and Local 
Government Act 1989 (the 1989 Act),which sets out the Monitoring Officer’s 
responsibility to report and the Cabinet’s corresponding duties and the Local 
Government Act 1972 (the 1972 Act) which addresses the duty to advertise 
the  LG&SCO’s findings and other related matters.

A copy of the report must be sent to all Members of the Council as required 
by the 1989 Act. 

As required by the 1972 Act, the Council published notice of the findings in 
December 2020.

As required by the 1989 Act, Cabinet must now formally consider this report, 
and decide: 

a) what action (if any) it proposes to take in response to the LG&SCO’s report;

b) if it proposes to take any action in response to the report, when it proposes 
to take that action; and

c) the reasons for taking the action specified in the  LG&SCO’s report, or, the 
reasons for taking no action.

Should the LG&SCO not be satisfied with the Cabinet’s response, he may 
serve a notice on the Council, with reasons, requiring the Cabinet to further 
respond, with reasons. This is also subject to statutory advertising 
requirements. Beyond that, the LG&SCO’s has no legal powers to force the 
Council to comply with his recommendations. 

The requirements set out in this report cover the statutory responsibilities of 
both Cabinet and the Statutory Officers.

Background

In December 2011, the court granted Mr and Mrs B a Special Guardianship 
Order for their two grandchildren. The support plan agreed with the Council 
stated that:

Page 4



4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

 “the carers will receive a Special Guardianship Allowance which will 
equate to the Level 1 enhanced fostering allowance that they are 
currently receiving, less any Child Benefit, Child Tax credits, working 
tax credits or any other benefits to which they may be entitled. This 
financial assistance will be reviewed annually by the Local Authority as 
per procedure. If there is no major change in the carers finances the 
financial assistance will remain in place until the child leaves full time 
education or at the end of the academic year in which the child reaches 
the age of 18.” 

The Council provided Mr and Mrs B with a Special Guardianship Allowance. 
This was £119.18 a week less deductions. In 2014 Mr and Mrs B queried the 
amount of the Special Guardianship Allowance they were receiving and why 
the age band allowance started at age 12. They were told the Council paid 
the enhanced allowance from age 12 in line with standard fostering 
allowances. Following the review, the Council began to pay Mr and Mrs B at 
the then current Level 1 fostering allowance rate of £132 a week.

Following the 2015 annual review, the Council decided it had made a mistake 
in the previous review. We decided the Special Guardianship Allowance 
should be paid at the 2011 level of support. We also said Mr and Mrs B had 
been given the wrong information when they had been told they would receive 
the age 12 band increase. The Council did not seek a repayment of the 
amount paid at the higher 2014 rate, but reduced ongoing payments to the 
2011 level. Mr and Mrs B complained to the Council. In responding to their 
concerns, the Council said that in line with Council policy, age band increases 
were not paid in respect of Special Guardianship Allowances and that the 
level of financial assistance paid to special guardians who were foster carers 
was set at the level of the fostering payments they were receiving at the time 
the Special Guardianship Order was granted. For Mr and Mrs B this meant 
they would continue to receive payment based on the Level 1 enhanced 
fostering allowance in 2011. 
    
In 2016, the Council produced policy guidance in relation to financial 
assistance for special guardians. This confirmed the Council pays financial 
support in line with the ‘Standardised Means Test Model’. The guidance also 
stated: ‘The level of financial assistance paid to Foster Carers will be set at 
the level of Fostering Payments they receive at the time of the Special 
Guardianship Order being granted’ and that: ‘the payments do not increase 
as the child becomes older’. 

LG&SCO Findings and Intervening Period

The LG&SCO’s decision, which was issued to the Council in May 2019, but 
not published until December 2019 found that the Council was at fault for 
failing to act in accordance with the law and relevant statutory guidance. 

In the intervening period, the Council took advice from Leading Counsel as to 
whether or not the LG&SCO had exceeded his jurisdiction by applying his 
financial recommendations in Mr and Mrs B’s complaint to ALL Special 

Page 5



4.14

4.15

Guardians in the Borough, so that they would receive back payments at the 
correct higher rates applicable, backdated to November 2013. The legal 
advice, in broad terms, was there was a reasonable argument that the 
LG&SCO had exceeded his jurisdiction by recommending broader application 
to the full class of Special Guardians. Officers were concerned that the 
Council were potentially looking at a financial cost of around £900,000 all told 
and that Special Guardians who had not been a party to the complaint were 
effectively going to receive an unexpected ‘windfall’. In some cases this could 
amount to many tens of thousands of pounds.

Having thought very carefully about the significance of taking the exceptional 
step of Judicially Reviewing the LG&SCO, in light of legal advice, that the 
Council had what amounted to an arguable case, the Council made an 
application to the High Court in the summer of 2019. Subsequently, the High 
Court decided, having considered the application on paper (without a hearing) 
the Council’s case had not passed the legal threshold for the Court to 
intervene. Officers decided not to take the matter further by way of an 
application for a review hearing.

LG&SCO Recommendations

The Ombudsman’s recommendations and the steps the Council has taken so 
far are as follows:

(a) Calculate and backdate to November 2013 (the date of publication of our 
focus report, “Family Values: Council services to family and friends who care 
for others’ children”) all Special Guardianship Allowance payments for which 
Mr and Mrs B were eligible, based on the fostering rate relevant at the time 
and their grandchild’s age; 

The Council accepted the recommendation in full in December 2019 and 
made the full compensatory payment due to Mr and Mrs B.

(b) Reconsider its policy for Special Guardianship Allowances in light of the 
statutory guidance, caselaw and our focus reports; 

Given the current Policy has been found to be non-compliant, the Monitoring 
Officer recommends that the Council amends its current Policy accordingly. 
However, before it does so there will need to be consultation with affected 
individuals. This will include targeted engagement with those who are 
currently in receipt of an Allowance, or who are currently starting to engage 
with the system and may be eligible to receive an allowance in the near future. 
A draft consultation copy of the Policy is attached at Appendix 2. The 
Policy will return to the Cabinet for post-consultation approval at the 
next convenient date; 

(c) Identify all other special guardians affected by this fault since November 
2013; and 

(d) Make backdated payments to those special guardians, calculated using 
the reconsidered policy.

Page 6



4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

Members will be aware that the LG&SCO has powers to make 
recommendations to the Council. Whilst he has no power to compel the 
Council to comply, there is a legal and reputational expectation that Members 
consider those recommendations carefully and seriously. Officers have taken 
legal advice on the legal risks of full or partial compliance with 
recommendations c and d (above). The Legal considerations are that if 
individual claimant went to court (rather than the LG&SCO) the court’s 
power’s to backdate a payment are somewhat limited to months, rather than 
years and in any event the legal limitation period is 6 years back to the earliest 
payment. Backdating to say 3 years, would, according to counsel, be seen in 
legal terms as fairly generous and in effect a windfall for those who haven’t 
brought a case or a complaint against the Council. However, there is a risk 
that an individual might apply to the Court for a judicial review of the Cabinet’s 
decision, on the grounds of failing to take into account relevant considerations 
or taking into account irrelevant considerations, or irrationality. The legal test, 
however, is high in order to mount such a challenge.

Members will also be mindful of the Council’s financial position. There is some 
£9m of social care budget pressure in the 20/21 financial year, which is 
mitigated by close management to try to contain these pressures within the 
approved budget  Full acceptance of the financial recommendations will cost 
the Council in excess of £900,000. 

These are matters entirely for members to decide. By way of illustration, to 
assist members in making this very difficult decision the following sets out 
some possible options for Members to consider, although it should be 
stressed again that it is open to Members to do something different:

Complying with the LG&SCOs report in full
(backdated to 2013 – no cap) - £903,000 

Backdating 3 years with no cap -  £619,000

Backdating 3 years with a £10k cap -  £558,000 

Backdating 3 years with a £7.5k cap -  £516,000

All of the above would be subject to building in a 10% contingency to provide 
for as yet unidentified potential claimants.

Whichever ‘scheme’ is decided upon, a simple compensation scheme will 
need to be established to ensure the arrangements for administering 
payments is transparent and fair. 

Alternatives Considered

Alternative options are included in this report.

Page 7



Costs and Budget Summary

5. The financial implications are set out in para 4.18 above.

Risk and Policy Implications

These are set out in the report. The finding of maladministration against the 
Council is an organisation and reputational risk. It is essential that Rochdale 
has an updated SGA policy which is understood by existing and potential 
SGA carers and is compliant with case law and statutory guidance.

6.

         
Consultation

7. The Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Children’s Services

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.  Background papers are attached.

For Further Information Contact: david.wilcock@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 8



Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
www.lgo.org.uk

Investigation into a complaint against
Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council
(reference number: 17 010 167)

17 May 2019

Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman

Page 9

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


    

Final report 2

Key to names used

Mr and Mrs B The complainants

The Ombudsman’s role
For 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated complaints. 
We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our jurisdiction by 
recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable based on all 
the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge.

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs 
and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make 
recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault. 

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost 
always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are:

 apologise

 pay a financial remedy

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again.

1. Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally 
name or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a 
letter or job role.

2.

3.

Page 10



    

Final report 3

Report summary
Education and Children’s Services – Family and Friends carers
Mr and Mrs B complain the Council is at fault for failing to increase the Special 
Guardianship Allowance they receive for their granddaughter from the rate set in 
a support plan agreed with the Council when the Special Guardianship Order was 
made in 2011. This fault has meant they have received less financial support than 
they would otherwise have received. 

Finding
Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made.

Recommendations
To remedy injustice caused to Mr and Mrs B by the Council’s fault in, without any 
cogent rationale, calculating Special Guardianship Allowance in a manner which 
is at odds with statutory guidance and the principles established in caselaw, and 
has resulted in lower payments, we recommend within three months of this report 
the Council:
• calculates and backdates to November 2013 (the date of publication of our 

focus report, “Family Values: Council services to family and friends who care 
for others’ children”) all Special Guardianship Allowance payments for which 
Mr and Mrs B are eligible, based on the fostering rate relevant at the time and 
their grandchild’s age; 

• reconsiders its policy for Special Guardianship Allowances in light of the 
statutory guidance, caselaw and our focus reports;

• identifies all other special guardians affected by this fault since November 
2013; and 

• makes backdated payments to those special guardians, calculated using the 
reconsidered policy. 

Page 11

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf


    

Final report 4

The complaint
1. Mr and Mrs B complain that the Council, in paying them their Special 

Guardianship Allowance, has breached statutory guidance by continuing to base 
the payment on the fostering allowance rate from 2011, the time the Special 
Guardianship Order was made, and not increasing it in line with their 
granddaughter’s age.

Legal and administrative powers

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. It is for 

the Ombudsman to determine what constitutes maladministration, which is a 
different concept to unlawfulness, but failure to follow the law and guidance 
(including statutory guidance) may amount to maladministration. (R (on the 
application of Doy) v. CLAE [2002] Env. L.R.) In this report, we have used the word fault to 
refer to maladministration and service failure. 

3. We must also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the 
person making the complaint. We refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault 
which has caused an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 
1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), as amended)

4. We cannot investigate late complaints unless we decide there are good reasons. 
Late complaints are when someone takes more than 12 months to complain to us 
about something a council has done. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26B and 34D, as 
amended)

5. The Courts have held that time bars are not to be enforced rigidly against a 
complainant where justice requires that the time be extended and his complaint 
heard. (R v Local Commissioner for Administration, ex parte Bradford Metropolitan City Council 
(1979) QB287) Here, Mr and Mrs B challenged matters at the time and continued to 
do so before complaining to us, and the alleged fault and injustice are both 
continuing. We decided that justice required us to exercise our discretion to 
accept a late complaint. 

6. The law also says we cannot normally investigate a complaint when someone 
could take the matter to court. However, we may decide to investigate if we 
consider it would be unreasonable to expect the person to go to court. (Local 
Government Act 1974, section 26(6)(c), as amended)

7. We are mindful that the Courts have considered the suitability of Judicial Review 
as an alternative remedy in situations such as this, and have decided that 
complaining to us is in general more appropriate. (Anufrijeva v London Borough of 
Southwark (2003) EWCA Civ 1406) In the particular circumstances of this case, we are 
mindful that it would in all likelihood be prohibitively costly for Mr and Mrs B to 
conduct Judicial Review proceedings. Accordingly, it is our view that it is not 
reasonable to expect them to resort to, or to have resorted to, this remedy. We 
have therefore decided to use our discretion to investigate this complaint.

8. We may investigate matters coming to our attention during an investigation if we 
consider that a member of the public who has not complained may have suffered 
an injustice as a result. (Local Government Act 1974, section 26D and 34E, as amended) 
Where we identify fault in relation to a complaint, we may also make 

Page 12



    

Final report 5

recommendations not only to remedy the particular injustice sustained by the 
complainant, but also to prevent injustice being caused in the future in 
consequence of similar fault. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2B), as amended)

Special Guardianship – the law and guidance 
9. Under a Special Guardianship Order the Courts appoint someone, often extended 

family members, like grandparents, to be a child’s special guardian who will then 
become responsible for all day to day decisions about the child. 

10. Councils play a central role in the process. The Special Guardianship Regulations 
2005, as amended, say councils may provide finance to special guardians to 
support continuing the arrangement after a Special Guardianship Order is made. 
The support is known as a Special Guardianship Allowance.

11. Councils are required to have regard to the Statutory Guidance for local 
authorities on the Special Guardianship Regulations 2005, as amended. This 
means councils must substantially follow the guidance unless there are good or 
cogent reasons to do differently. The Guidance says that in determining the 
amount of a Special Guardianship Allowance, a council should have regard to the 
amount of fostering allowance that would have been paid if the child had been 
fostered. Paragraph 65 of the Guidance states that 

“in determining the amount of any ongoing financial support, the local 
authority should have regard to the amount of fostering allowance which 
would have been payable if the child were fostered. The local authority’s 
core allowance plus any enhancement that would be payable in respect of 
the particular child, will make up the maximum payment the local authority 
could consider paying the family. Any means test carried out as 
appropriate to the circumstances would use this maximum payment as a 
basis.”.

12. Case law has considered this matter. In 2010 (R v Kirklees Council) the Court found 
paying Special Guardianship Allowance as a fixed percentage of fostering 
allowance without any justification did not comply with the Guidance and was 
unlawful and that councils should pay Special Guardianship Allowance at an 
equivalent rate to foster carers. A second case in 2012 (R v London Borough of Merton) 
found that councils should use the National Fostering Network’s minimum 
allowance as a starting point for calculation. The Court held that Merton Council 
had not produced any reasons for not complying with paragraph 65 of the 
Guidance and so the decision to adopt a level of Special Guardianship Allowance 
at two thirds of the Network’s minimum was unlawful.

13. One of our earlier reports (12 006 209) found fault by Liverpool City Council in 
calculating its Special Guardianship Allowance at a level below the amount it paid 
foster carers. Our recent report against North Tyneside MBC (17 002 928) 
confirmed Special Guardianship Allowances should not be calculated as a 
percentage of fostering allowance.

14. We have issued two focus reports about this area of council activity: “Family 
Values: Council services to family and friends who care for others’ children” 
(2013); and “Firm Foundations: complaints about council support and advice for 
special guardians” (2018). In these we draw on lessons from complaints, 
including those where councils did not set out clear guidance on how they 
calculate Special Guardianship Allowances and had faulty policies. 

Page 13

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/looked-after-children/12-006-209
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/friends-and-family-carers/17-002-928
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4320/FR%20-%20SGO%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4320/FR%20-%20SGO%20-%20FINAL.pdf


    

Final report 6

How we considered this complaint
15. We have produced this report following the examination of relevant documents.
16. We gave the complainants and the Council a confidential draft of this report and 

invited their comments. We took the comments received into account before the 
report was finalised.

What we found

Background to the complaint
17. In December 2011, the courts granted Mr and Mrs B a Special Guardianship 

Order for their two grandchildren, one of whom subsequently left their care. The 
support plan agreed with the Council stated that: 

“the carers will receive a Special Guardianship Allowance which will equate 
to the Level 1 enhanced fostering allowance that they are currently 
receiving, less any Child Benefit, Child Tax credits, working tax credits or 
any other benefits to which they may be entitled. This financial assistance 
will be reviewed annually by the Local Authority as per procedure. If there 
is no major change in the carers finances the financial assistance will 
remain in place until the child leaves full time education or at the end of the 
academic year in which the child reaches the age of 18.”

The Council provided Mr and Mrs B with a Special Guardianship Allowance at the 
level at which they were receiving the fostering allowance at the time the Special 
Guardianship Order was granted. This was £119.18 a week less deductions.

18. In 2014 Mr and Mrs B queried the amount of the Special Guardianship Allowance 
they were receiving and why the age band allowance started at age 12. In an 
email sent before the 2014 financial review, they were told the Council paid the 
enhanced allowance from age 12 in line with standard fostering allowances. 
Following the review, the Council began to pay Mr and Mrs B at the then current 
Level 1 fostering allowance rate of £132. Following the 2015 annual review, 
however, it decided it had made a mistake in the previous review, due to internal 
miscommunication. It decided there had been a deviation from the support plan 
and the Special Guardianship Allowance should be paid at the 2011 level of 
support. It also said Mr and Mrs B had been given the wrong information when 
they had been told they would receive the age 12 band increase. It did not seek a 
repayment of the amount paid at the higher 2014 rate, but reduced ongoing 
payments to the 2011 level.

19. Unsure of the correct level of payment they should be receiving, confused why 
their payment rate was not increasing in line with the Level 1 fostering allowance 
and why they were not receiving the age band increases for their grandchild as 
they had been told they would in 2014, Mr and Mrs B complained to the Council. 

20. In responding to their concerns, the Council said that in line with Council policy, 
age band increases are not paid in respect of Special Guardianship Allowances 
and that the level of financial assistance paid to special guardians who were 
foster carers is set at the level of the fostering payments they were receiving at 
the time the Special Guardianship Order was granted. For Mr and Mrs B this 
meant they would continue to receive payment based on the Level 1 enhanced 
fostering allowance in 2011. 

Page 14



    

Final report 7

21. In 2016, the Council produced policy guidance in relation to financial assistance 
for special guardians. Its guidance confirms the Council pays financial support in 
line with the Standardised Means Test Model. The guidance also states: 

“The level of financial assistance paid to Foster Carers will be set at the 
level of Fostering Payments they receive at the time of the Special 
Guardianship Order being granted”

and that: 
“the payments do not increase as the child becomes older.”.

22. As the Council’s policy appears to be contrary to the statutory guidance to which it 
must have regard, and to the principles established in caselaw, it was asked to 
provide the reasoning behind its policy. It has confirmed that the matter was not 
considered by any Committee of the Council, but was approved by its Children’s 
Social Care Senior Management Team of the time. There are no background 
papers or clear audit trail for the approval of the policy, or any previous policy, but 
the Council has been able to provide legal advice from 2014. The advice notes 
that not only must the Council’s policy on Special Guardianship Allowances be 
fair, but that there must also be a clear rationale for the terms of the policy. It says 
there is a good argument that, especially as the fostering allowance suggests a 
child’s financial needs do increase as they get older, the move to a new age band 
reflects a change in circumstances to be taken into account when reviewing a 
Special Guardianship Allowance. The Council’s policy is contrary to that advice. 
The advice makes no reference to freezing payments at the level being received 
at the time the Special Guardianship Order was granted. 

23. Asked to explain the rationale behind its policy for limiting Special Guardianship 
Allowances, the Council stated that “a Special Guardianship Support Plan was in 
place which was agreed by all parties” and that this is what the plan provided for.

24. In responding to our enquiries, the Council has acknowledged that due to the 
increase in the level of payment in 2014, and the reversion to the 2011 rate, 
Mr and Mrs B have not received a consistent approach causing confusion and 
uncertainty. In recognition of this it offered to comply with the 2014 review 
decision rate of £132, minus a deduction for child tax credit which the 
complainants receive.

Conclusions
25. Under the statutory guidance the basic principle is that a council should start with 

the fostering allowance, then make whatever means-tested reductions and 
adjustments that are appropriate. If a council wants to depart from the general 
approach set out in the guidance it needs clear reasons for doing so.

26. The Council’s policy is at odds with the statutory guidance and the principles 
established in caselaw and no rational explanation has been put forward to justify 
this. Without a cogent rationale for this, the Council is at fault.

27. While fostering rates have increased over time, and take into account the age of 
the child, Mr and Mrs B’s Special Guardianship Allowance rate has remained 
static. In practice, of course, this creates an increasingly widening gap between 
the two allowances. By freezing the support, a considerable and unjustifiable 
differential emerges between the allowances which effectively leaves families in 
the same place as in those councils we have already criticised for paying Special 
Guardianship Allowances as a fixed proportion of fostering rates. We are satisfied 

Page 15



    

Final report 8

Mr and Mrs B have been left with less financial support for their grandchild than 
would have been the case if they had been treated fairly and without fault. 

28. In November 2013, we published our focus report, “Family Values: Council 
services to family and friends who care for others’ children” because we were 
finding carers, including those in receipt of Special Guardianship Allowance, were 
being treated unfairly and were not receiving the support to which they were 
entitled. One of the case studies involved a systemic failure to pay correct rates of 
Special Guardianship Allowances. The focus report appears to have fallen on 
deaf ears: this report highlights continuing systemic problems which affect not just 
Mr and Mrs B, but potentially others in receipt of Special Guardianship 
Allowances from the Council. 

Recommendations
29. We recommended within three months of the date of this report the Council: 

• calculates and backdates to November 2013 (the date of publication of our 
focus report, “Family Values: Council services to family and friends who care 
for others’ children”) all Special Guardianship Allowance payments for which 
Mr and Mrs B are eligible, based on the fostering rate relevant at the time and 
their grandchild’s age; 

• reconsiders its policy for Special Guardianship Allowances in light of the 
statutory guidance, caselaw and our focus reports;

• identifies all other special guardians affected by this fault since November 
2013; and 

• makes backdated payments to those special guardians, calculated using the 
reconsidered policy. 

We call upon the Council to accept the report and recommendations in full. 
30. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 

has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council or Cabinet and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, 
section 31(2), as amended)

Decision
31. We have completed our investigation into this complaint and found there was fault 

by the Council which caused injustice to Mr and Mrs B. The Council should take 
the action identified in paragraph 29 to remedy that injustice.

Page 16

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2139/FR%20-%20Family%20Values%20caring%20for%20others%20November%202013.pdf


 

 

Special Guardianship 
Support Policy 

[Subject] 
 

 

Page 17



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 1 
 
 
 

Document Control 

 

Document Title:  
 
Summary 
 

Publication Date  

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation 

 

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents 

 

Replaces  

Joint Policy (Yes/No)  

Name of Partner(s) if joint  

Policy Owner (Name/Position)  

Policy Author (Name/Position)  

Applies to  

 
 

Review of Strategy 
 

Last Review Date  

Review undertaken by  

Next Review Date  

 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 
Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

    

    

    

Page 18



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 2 
 
 
 

Assessment for Support Services  
 

In all cases where an application for a Special Guardianship Order (SGO) is made to the court, the 
local authority will carry out an investigation into the suitability of the prospective special guardian and 
the needs of the child. In carrying out such an investigation it may become apparent that support from 
the authority, or arranged by the authority, is necessary to promote the child’s welfare.  
 
If the authority decides that it is not necessary to carry out an assessment of the need for support the 
special guardian will be notified and given an opportunity to make representations as to why such an 
assessment should be carried out. Any such representations must be received within 28 days of receipt 
of the notification of the decision not to carry out an assessment. If representation is received, such 
representation will be considered by the responsible Head of Service. 
 
All children who were Looked After by the authority at the time of the application for a Special 
Guardianship Order, or immediately before the Special Guardianship Order was made, will be 
assessed for support services, following which the authority will produce a ‘notice of assessment’ and 
where there is an going need, a Support Plan, setting out the support it will provide.  
 
Support may be provided in many ways such as advice, mediation, therapeutic, or financial e.g. by  
providing one-off payment for a ‘settling-in’ grant or where there is a recurring financial expenditure. 
The purpose of this support is to ensure that the child’s needs are met and the relationship between the 
child and special guardian is preserved. Lack of support, financial or otherwise, should never be the 
reason why a special guardianship arrangement fails.  
 
If it appears that, a child who is the subject of the Special Guardianship Order may have a need for 
support from another agency, such as health or education they will be consulted with in preparation of 
the SGO Support Plan.  
 
 
Provision of Support 
 
The legal framework governing Special Guardianship arrangements is set out within Section 14F of the 
amended Children Act, 1989 and the associated regulations (Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 
(as amended by the Special Guardianship (Amendment) Regulations 2016).   
 
This framework places a duty on the local authority to make arrangements for a range of services to 
support Special Guardianship arrangements. 
  
Special Guardianship support services are defined as:  

• Financial support;  
• Services to enable children, Special Guardians (including prospective special guardians) and 
parents to discuss matters relating to the special guardianship  
• Assistance including mediation in relation to contact between the child and their parents, relatives 
or significant others with whom the child has a relationship that the authority considers to be 
beneficial to the welfare of the child   
• Therapeutic services for the child 
Assistance to ensure continuance of the relationship between the child and the (proposed) Special 
Guardian, including training to meet any special needs of the child, respite care, and mediation  
• Counselling, advice and information  

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 3 
 
 
 

 
The framework emphasises the need for financial support to be seen as one component of the range of 
possible sources of support for these Special Guardianship arrangements.  In addition, services should 
not be seen in isolation from universal mainstream services and it is important to ensure that special 
guardians are assisted in accessing these services, including accessing their entitlements to tax credits 
and social security benefits.  Rochdale Borough Council is therefore committed to ensuring that holistic 
support needs are assessed before a Special Guardianship Order is made, and that this approach 
continues as part of regular reviews of holistic needs. 
 
The Special Guardianship Support Plan  
 
Where an assessment identifies the need for ‘on-going’ support services, a Special Guardianship 
Support Plan must be completed using the SGO Support Plan Template (See Appendix 1).  The 
support plan should identify access to the full range of support services available (including those 
within Universal and targeted services as well as more specialist support) in order to ensure the child’s 
needs are fully supported. A copy of a typical support plan is also available in Appendix 1 of this 
document. 
 
The Special Guardianship Support Plan will need to be agreed by the Practice Manager and approval 
sought by the Rochdale Borough Council SGO Panel chaired by a Head of Service.  
 
Once the necessary approval has been obtained, the social worker must send the proposed plan to the 
person requesting support, and allow 28 days for that person to make representations about the 
proposed plan. The SW should also give information to the person concerned about who to contact to 
obtain independent advice and advocacy.  
 
Where representations are received with new or additional information, they should be referred to the 
Practice Manager who will discuss this with the responsible Head of Service to make a decision to 
amend or confirm the Plan.  If a decision is made to amend the plan this should be referred to the SGO 
panel for final agreement.  The allocated social worker must then write to the person concerned setting 
out the final plan.  
 
NB: Particular attention must be given to the content of the Support Plan in relation to the 
financial information of the Special Guardian and ensure that this confidential information is not 
shared with birth parents when submitted to Court. 
 
The plan should not usually be amended outside the local authority process. However, if additional 
information on the need for support, such as, revised expert opinion, be received after determination of 
the final plan then the matter can be re-referred to the SGO Panel for re-consideration.  In exceptional 
circumstances and where there is a pressing need for amendment, such as a determination of 
additional need arising at Court and it is not possible to re-convene the SGO Panel, then the issue of 
amendment can be referred to the responsible Head of Service or similar Head of Service.   
 
Provision of Financial Support 
 
Carers who are proposing to care for a child under a Special Guardianship Order, or who are caring for 
a child under a Special Guardianship order can request an assessment for support, including financial 
support. Rochdale Borough Council may provide support to a Special Guardian, or prospective Special 
Guardian, in order to maintain or achieve permanence for a child or young person, via Special 

Page 20



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 4 
 
 
 

Guardianship. This policy applies where Special Guardianship support has been assessed to be in the 
best interests of the child or young person  
 
Regulation 7 (Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 (as amended by the Special Guardianship 
(Amendment) Regulations 2016) states ‘Financial issues should not be the sole reason for a special 
guardianship arrangement failing to survive. The central principle is that financial support should be 
payable in accordance with the Regulations to help secure a suitable special guardianship 
arrangement where such an arrangement cannot be readily made because of a financial obstacle’.  
 
The payment of financial support is at the discretion of Rochdale Borough Council and is subject to an 
assessment of need and cannot be relied upon as a regular source of income.  
 
It is important to ensure that special guardians are helped to access benefits to which they are entitled. 
Rochdale Borough Council will therefore provide the necessary information and support for special 
guardians or prospective special guardian to ensure they are aware of, and taking advantage of, all 
benefits and tax credits available to them.   The statutory guidance makes it clear that any other 
payment available to the special guardian or prospective special guardian (e.g. grant, benefit, 
allowance or resource) in respect of their needs as a result of becoming a special guardian of the child 
must be taken into account when determining the amount of any allowance. 
 
When considering providing financial support Rochdale Borough Council will normally consider the 
special guardian or prospective special guardian’s means taking into account  

(a) the special guardian or prospective special guardian’s financial resources (including significant 
income from any investments, but not their home), including any tax credit or benefit, which would 
be available to them if the child lived with them.  
(b) the amount required by the special guardian or prospective special guardian in respect of his 
reasonable outgoings and commitments, e.g. housing and transport costs, and daily living expenses 
(but not outgoings in respect of the child) 
(c) the financial needs that relate to the child (e.g. because of special diet or need for replacement 
bedding) and the resources of the child (e.g. a trust fund) 

 
The Department of Work and Pensions has the primary duty to provide a level of income maintenance 
in circumstances where parents are unable to provide an adequate level of financial support to a child 
who is subject of Special Guardianship Order. Where the local authority is considering undertaking a 
financial assessment regarding ongoing payments (allowances) in respect of Special Guardianship 
Orders, advice will be provided to the carer to ensure they are claiming all relevant and appropriate 
benefits and/or tax credits available to them 

 
 
Circumstances in which Financial Support may be payable  
 
Financial support may be provided to those who are granted Special Guardianship Orders in respect of 
children who were previously looked after or who would, in the opinion of the Practice Manager, 
otherwise have become looked after if such orders had not been granted.   
 
 
 
Circumstances where financial support may be payable:   
 

Page 21



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 5 
 
 
 

1. Where it is necessary to ensure that the carers can look after the child, where this would not be 
practicable without financial support and where this is not available from another source;  

2. Where the child needs special care which requires greater expenditure of resources by reason of 
illness, disability, emotional or behavioural difficulties or the consequences of past abuse or 
neglect; 

3. Where the local authority consider that it is appropriate to contribute to any legal costs including 
court fees associated with the making of a Special Guardianship; 

4. Where such support is to meet recurring costs in respect of travel for the purpose of visits between 
the child and a related person, in line with the child’s support plan;  
 
 
N.B. Where assistance would normally be provided by another agency (e.g. adaptations to 
the home for a disabled child) these should be applied for separately by the carers to the 
appropriate agency. 

 
Financial support to Former Foster Carers 
 
Specific provision is made in regard of financial support for Special Guardian(s) who were formerly 
foster carers for the specific child or young person.  The general principle underpinning this is that 
financial support should not include any element of remuneration (skills payment) but former foster 
carers are exempted from this for a period of up to 2 years.  This principle is to allow for a period of 
financial adjustment following the making of the SGO and will not usually be extended beyond that 
period.   
 
In exceptional circumstances linked to the specific needs of the child(ren) such an element could 
continue beyond 2 years, which is at the discretion of Rochdale Borough Council. The support plan will 
outline the level of financial support to be paid to the Carers and how this will be assessed on an 
annual basis.  
The carers will be able to review and agree this prior to the application being made to the Court. 
 
The level of financial assistance paid to Foster Carers will commence at the level of fostering payments 
they receive at the time of the Special Guardianship Order being granted. Additional payments relating 
to holiday, birthday and Christmas or Festival Allowances will not usually be paid.  Where the annual 
Support Plan Review indicates that the need for financial support remains; payments will be linked to 
the fostering rates payable at the time the review is undertaken.  The amount payable will also be 
linked to the age of the child according to the fostering allowance age bandings applicable at the time 
the review is undertaken.  Details of the current payments are included in Appendix 2 of this policy. 
 
The payment age bandings are: 0-4 years; 5-10 years; 11-15 years; 16+ 
 
The decision to grant or continue with a Special Guardianship Allowance will be made by Rochdale 
Borough Councils SGO Panel.  The SGO Panel consists of key senior professionals within Children’s 
Services.  Cases will be presented to the panel by the assessing social worker and/or their Practice 
Manager.  Any views of Special Guardian’s or prospective Special Guardians will be represented via 
that reporting mechanism.  The role of the SGO panel will be to consider all aspects of support to the 
child of which allowances are only one element.  To this end any assessment and support plan should 
focus on the holistic needs and support to maintain the arrangement. 
 
 

Page 22



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 6 
 
 
 

Non Means Tested Financial Support 
The Local Authority will not means test the prospective Special Guardian(s) where it considers it 
appropriate to make a contribution towards:  
1. expenditure on legal costs, 
2. expenditure associated with a child or young person’s introduction to a prospective permanent 

carer or 
 
Types of Financial Support 
In accordance with its overall policies and procedures in this regard, financial support may be provided in 
the following ways: 

 Periodic financial support - In determining the amount of any ongoing financial support, Rochdale 
Borough Council will take into account the amount of fostering allowance which would have been 
payable if the child were fostered. Rochdale’s core maintenance allowance plus any enhancement 
that would be payable in respect of the particular child, will make up the maximum payment.  The 
standard means test carried out as appropriate to the circumstances would use this maximum 
payment as a basis and deduct any calculated amount. (Appendix 2 of this document outlines some 
specific cases in more detail. 

 A lump sum payment, which will cover items or adaptations that are required as a consequence of 
assessment of a child's individual needs and as determined by the Local Authority 

 The commissioning by the Local Authority, possibly alongside other agencies, of specific items or 
services 

 
 

Method of Payment  
 
In line with Regulation 8 (Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 (as amended by the Special 
Guardianship (Amendment) Regulations 2016) financial support may be paid either:  

i) periodically, if it is provided to meet a need which is likely to give rise to recurring expenditure; or  
ii) by a single payment; or  
iii) if the local authority and the Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian agree, by 
instalments.  
 

Decision to provide support  
 
The decision to provide support must be sought from the SGO Panel which acts as a quality-assurance and 
approval mechanism, and ensures that the SGO Court Report, Support Plan and financial assessment 
(where appropriate) are completed to the required standard within the required timescales.  
 
Exceptionally, where time does not allow for this, the designated Head of Service should have sight of the 
reports and agree these in advance of submission to court.  
 
Following changes to the support plan, reviews and receipt of appeals, the appropriate documentation 
(including a financial assessment) must be submitted to Panel following which the appropriate Practice 
Manager will inform the SG in writing of the outcome of the Panel’s decision.  
 
In summary the SGO Panel will have 4 main roles:  
▪ To oversee the process of completing assessments is undertaken within the given timescale;  
▪ To ensure that proposals for financial support are discussed;  

Page 23



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 7 
 
 
 

▪ To assure the quality of the assessment and report;  
▪ To recommend the level and type of support (if any) to be offered by Children’s Services.  
 
Notice of Decision  
After approval has been sought and a decision made to provide support financial support, the Special 
Guardian will be provided with a ‘Notification of Entitlement’ letter, sent by the Children’s Services Payment 
Team which sets out the following information:  
▪ The method of determination of the amount of financial support  
▪ Whether financial support is to be paid in regular instalments and if so, the frequency of payment;  
▪ Where financial support is to be paid as a single payment, when the payment is to be made;  
▪ The amount of financial support;  
▪ The period for which the financial support is to be paid;  
▪ When payment will commence;  
▪ Arrangements and procedure for review and termination  
• Any conditions attached to the payment 
• Details of the support plan 
• The onus on the (proposed) Special Guardian to inform the local authority without delay of any change in 
their own, or the child’s circumstances 
 
Any notice must be given in writing and accompanied by a copy of the support plan where it is proposed to 
provide specified services.  
 
Review of Support (including financial support)  
 
Regulation’s 17 and 18 requires that where the local authority provides general and/or financial support 
periodically, it must review the financial support:  
a) Annually, requesting appropriate documentary evidence;  
b) If there is any change of circumstances or breach of any condition (see  
Terms & Conditions Agreement);  
c) At any stage in the implementation of the plan that the local authority considers appropriate. the Special 
Guardianship Allowance will be reviewed annually and each year Special Guardians will be required to re-
complete the financial assessment document. 
 
An early review may be initiated if: 
- Rochdale Borough Council become aware of any significant changes in the circumstances of the family 
- The Special Guardian(s) notifies Rochdale Borough Council of any significant changes or requests an 
early review because of a change in financial circumstances. 
 
In Rochdale we are keen to ensure that finance is not the only element of support that is considered on an 
annual basis.  We all know that children’s needs may increase or decrease over time and the annual review 
of support enables the authority to respond according to any fluctuating need that may require additional 
practical, health, educational or other support. 
 
Any significant changes to the financial circumstances of the Special Guardianship (s) household are likely 
to result in a change in the level of allowance that is awarded. The SGO Panel will always take note of the 
Court agreed support plan, which will identify a level of payment and support. However depending on the 
means testing assessment and the level of benefits received, this may change each year in line with the 
annual review, depending on the Special Guardian’s circumstances 
 

Page 24



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 8 
 
 
 

 
 
Terms & Conditions  
Regulation 10 provides that financial support that is to be paid periodically is not payable until the special 
guardian or prospective special guardian agrees to the following conditions. As the local authority has the 
discretion to impose any appropriate condition this will apply for the purpose of any financial support 
provided.  
 
As outlined within the Terms & Conditions, financial support will always cease to be payable to the Special 
Guardian or prospective Special Guardian if the child or young person:  

a) ceases to have a home with him or her; or  
b) ceases full-time education or training and commences employment; or  
c) qualifies for income support or job seeker’s allowance in his or her own right: or 
d) attains the age of 18 years, (unless he or she continues in full-time education or training, when it 
may continue until the end of the course or training he or she is then undertaking)  

 
The Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian must agree to:  

a) inform the local authority immediately if the Special Guardian changes his or her address, the 
child/young person dies, or there is a change in the financial circumstances of the Special Guardian 
or the needs or resources of the child, or if any of the events occur which would lead to the 
cessation of the support.  
b) complete and supply the local authority with appropriate annual financial documentation of his or 
her financial circumstances, the financial needs and resources of the child or young person, and his 
or her address and whether the child/young person still has a home with him or her.  

 
The Special Guardian must also sign the ‘Terms & Conditions’ Agreement and adhere to the conditions set 
out within this Agreement.  
 
Rochdale Borough Council may suspend or terminate the payment of financial support, and seek to recover 
all or part of the financial support paid, if any of the above conditions are not complied with, but where the 
non-compliance is the failure to provide annual financial documentation, the local authority is under a duty 
to send the Special Guardian a written reminder of the need to provide this documentation and to give the 
person 28 days within which to comply.  
 
Notice of any change of circumstances of the Special Guardian or the child/young person may initially be 
given orally, but must be confirmed in writing within 7 days.  
 
 
12. Making Representations/Appeals Process  
 
If the carer(s) wishes to make representations and appeal against a decision or wants the terms of a 
decision to be reconsidered, he/she would need to appeal in writing and send the Appeal to the Special 
Guardianship Team within 28 days of receipt of the letter. The letter must clearly provide full details of the 
additional costs incurred as a result of ceasing financial support.  
 
Applicants who remain dissatisfied with the decision will be entitled to use the Rochdale Borough Council 
Complaint’s Procedure. 
 
  

Page 25



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 9 
 
 
 

Appendix 1.: SGO Support Plan template  
 

SGO Support Plan  - 
blank (2).doc

 
 

Example SGO 

support plan October 2019.doc
 

  

Page 26



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 10 
 
 
 

Appendix 2:  
 
SGO payments to former foster carers in years 1 & 2 post order  
(nb.  These rates are applicable as at 1st April 2019 and subject to revision periodically) 
 
 
 
  

Level 1 Basic Weekly 
Allowance 

Additional Weekly 
Payment 
(Skills) 

Maximum Amount 
Payable 

0-4 132                          0 132 

5-10 146                          0 146 

11-15 167                          0 167 

16+ 194                           0 194 

Level 2 
  

 

0-4 132 75                            207 

5-10 146 75                                                   221 

11-15 167 75                            242 

16+ 194 75                            269 

Level 3 
  

 

0-4 132 140                          272 

5-10 146 140                          286 

11-15 167 140                          307 

16+ 194 140                          334 

Level 4 
  

 

5-10 146 280                          426 

11-15 167 280                          447 

16+ 194 280                          474 

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 11 
 
 
 

Current Fostering Payments: SGO payments to former foster carers years 3+  
(nb.  These rates are applicable as at 1st April 2019 and subject to revision periodically) 
 
  

Level 1 Basic Weekly 
Allowance 

Additional Weekly 
Payment 
(Skills) 

Maximum Amount 
Payable 

0-4 132                          0 132 

5-10 146                          0 146 

11-15 167                          0 167 

16+ 194                           0 194 

Level 2 
  

 

0-4 132 0                         132 

5-10 146 0                                                 146 

11-15 167 0                            167 

16+ 194 0                            194 

Level 3 
  

 

0-4 132 0 132 

5-10 146 0 146 

11-15 167 0 167 

16+ 194 0 194 

Level 4 
  

 

5-10 146 0                      146 

11-15 167 0                     167 

16+ 194 0                 194 

Page 28



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 12 
 
 
 

Appendix 3: Finance Examples 
 
Example 1. 
 
I am a family and friend’s foster carer approved under Regulation 24 temporary approval and have 
been receiving a level 1 payment.  I am going to take an SGO in relation to my 2 year old nephew.  
Neither me or my partner work and we have children of our own.  What payments will I receive from 
the local authority? 
 
For the first 2 years, unless there is a significant change in your financial circumstances you will receive the 
same payment as you are getting as a foster carer (£132) minus child benefit and any other child related 
benefits that you are able to claim.   The allowance will change in line with changes to Rochdale Borough 
Council fostering allowances.  If changes in line with fostering allowances do occur then these will usually 
take effect from 1st April.   
 
A general review of support needs will take place annually and this will usually include a financial 
assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will continue to be paid.  
When the child you are caring for moves through one of the payment age bandings your allowance will 
increase accordingly.  The first age related increase will occur when the child becomes 5 years old (£146 
plus any uplift that was put in place on 1st April in each of the years since the making of the order).  
Depending on the outcome of the any means test, and any benefits including child benefit you receive will 
usually be deducted from the maximum amount payable) 
 
Worked Example Year 3+ 
 
 

1) PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME  

   

i) Pay 
Parent 

1 Parent 2 

Basic net monthly pay 0 0 

Drawings if self employed 0 0 

Total subsection 1i 0   

   

ii) Benefits and pensions (parents) 
Parent 

1 Parent 2 

Employers' sick pay (after compulsory deductions) 0 0 

Incapacity benefit 0 0 

Statutory maternity, paternity and/or adoption pay and/or maternity 
allowance 0 0 

Bereavement benefit 0 0 

Working tax credit (if paid directly and not as part of pay and excluding 
any childcare element paid) 0 0 

All pension payments being received 0 0 

Other benefits 0 0 

Total subsection 1ii 0   

   
iii) Benefits (family/children)     

Page 29



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 13 
 
 
 

Income Support/Jobseeker's Allowance per household 
                     
396.50    

Child tax credit per household  
                     
954.20    

Child benefit for each child, excluding child/children who are the subject 
of this assessment application     

Total subsection 1iii 1350.7   

   
iv) Other sources of income     

Income from capital, savings and investments - net monthly interest 0   

Income from boarders/lodgers (see guidance for details of calculation) 0   

Income from unfurnished properties 0   

Income from furnished properties 0   

Maintenance payments received for any child in household 0   

Existing adoption or special guardian 'allowances' (including any 
enhancements or specific payments for special needs) paid for any child     

Total subsection 1iv 0   

   

v) Income relating to child(ren) being adopted or becoming a 
special guardian child     

Any regular interest on capital and/or income in which the child(ren) has 
a legal interest and entitlement e.g. trust fund, property or other type of 
legacy.  Do not include payments from Criminal Injuries Compensation 
Awards 0   

Any other income 0   

Total subsection 1v 0   

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME 1350.7  

DISREGARD FIRST 20% 270.14  
FAMILY INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF TEST 1080.56  

 
 

2) PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE  

   
i) Home     

Mortgage payments (capital and interest) including any endowment 
payments linked to mortgage 0   

Rent (after any housing benefit payable) 0   

Council tax (after any council tax benefit payable) 7.5   

Total subsection 2i  7.5   

   
ii) Other outgoings    

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 14 
 
 
 

Loan repayments for essential purposes (see guidance notes) 0  
Maintenance payments 0  
Court orders 0  
Private pension contributions 0  
National insurance if self employed 0  

Reasonable child care costs including nursery fees (after any childcare 
element paid as part of the working tax credit) 0  

Total subsection 2ii 0  

   
iii) Core regular family expenditure    

Based on 125% income support allowances per household 1693.71  
Total subsection 2iii 1693.71  

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE: 1701.21  

 
 

CALCULATION    
     

Total projected net family income (per month): 1080.56  
Total projected family expenditure (per month): 1701.21  

Disposable income (per month): -620.65  
     

Local Authority Maximum Payment                                        ENTER 
MANUALLY: 528.00 4x132 

     
Amount of payment to adopters or special guardian 528.00  

     

Minus child benefit for child/children who are subject of this application                                                     
ENTER MANUALLY:   per month 

   
Final payment to adopters or special guardian: 528.00 per month 

  121.85 weekly payment 

 
 
  

Page 31



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 15 
 
 
 

Example 2 
 
I am a Level 3 foster carer with a monthly income and would like to take an SGO in relation to my 10 
year foster child who has been living with me for the last 3 years.  How will my payments be 
structured.  I work part time and my partner is retired. 
 
For the first 2 years unless there is a significant change in your financial circumstances you will continue to 
receive the amount you were getting as a foster carer (£286 minus any child related benefits).  The 
maintenance element will increase from the date the child becomes 11 years old (£307), this will again 
increase when the child becomes 16.  You will continue to receive the skills element of your payment during 
this initial 2 year period.  The allowance will change in line with changes to Rochdale Borough Council 
fostering allowances.   If changes in line with fostering allowances do occur then these will usually take 
effect from 1st April. 
   
A general review of support needs will take place annually and this will usually include a financial 
assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will continue to be paid.   
 
After 2 years the skills payment element will usually cease and the general review of support needs will  
include a financial assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will 
continue to be paid.  
 
We will continue to pay a maintenance allowance up to a maximum of subject to the outcome of the 
Standards means test based on your income and outgoings.  The starting point will be the standard 
fostering allowance for the age of the child (£167) minus the usual benefits and any amount that the means 
test tool determines 
 
Worked Example Year 3+ 
 
 
 

1) PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME  

   
i) Pay 

 Parent 1 Parent 2 

Basic net monthly pay 
                  
1,102.00    

Drawings if self employed     

Total subsection 1i 
                  
1,102.00    

   
ii) Benefits and pensions (parents) Parent 1 Parent 2 

Employers' sick pay (after compulsory deductions) 0 0 

Incapacity benefit 0 0 

Statutory maternity, paternity and/or adoption pay and/or maternity 
allowance 0 0 

Bereavement benefit 0 0 

Working tax credit (if paid directly and not as part of pay and excluding 
any childcare element paid) 0 0 

Page 32



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 16 
 
 
 

All pension payments being received 0 103 

Other benefits 0 0 

Total subsection 1ii 103   

   
iii) Benefits (family/children)     

Income Support/Jobseeker's Allowance per household 0   

Child tax credit per household  63.92   

Child benefit for each child, excluding child/children who are the subject 
of this assessment application 0   

Total subsection 1iii 63.92   

   
iv) Other sources of income     

Income from capital, savings and investments - net monthly interest 0   

Income from boarders/lodgers (see guidance for details of calculation) 0   

Income from unfurnished properties 0   

Income from furnished properties 0   

Maintenance payments received for any child in household 0   

Existing adoption or special guardian 'allowances' (including any 
enhancements or specific payments for special needs) paid for any child 0   

Total subsection 1iv 0   

   

v) Income relating to child(ren) being adopted or becoming a 
special guardian child     

Any regular interest on capital and/or income in which the child(ren) has 
a legal interest and entitlement e.g. trust fund, property or other type of 
legacy.  Do not include payments from Criminal Injuries Compensation 
Awards 0   

Any other income 0   

Total subsection 1v 0   

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME 1268.92  

DISREGARD FIRST 20% 253.784  
FAMILY INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF TEST 1015.136  

 

2) PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE  

   
i) Home     

Mortgage payments (capital and interest) including any endowment 
payments linked to mortgage     

Rent (after any housing benefit payable)     

Council tax (after any council tax benefit payable) £122.61   

Page 33



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 17 
 
 
 

Total subsection 2i  £122.61   

   
ii) Other outgoings    

Loan repayments for essential purposes (see guidance notes) 0  
Maintenance payments 0  
Court orders 0  
Private pension contributions 200  
National insurance if self employed 0  

Reasonable child care costs including nursery fees (after any 
childcare element paid as part of the working tax credit) 0  

Total subsection 2ii 200  

   
iii) Core regular family expenditure    

Based on 125% income support allowances per household 975.15  
Total subsection 2iii 975.15  

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE: 1297.76  

 
 

CALCULATION    
     

Total projected net family income (per month): 1015.14  
Total projected family expenditure (per month): 1297.76  

Disposable income (per month): -282.62  
     

Local Authority Maximum Payment                                        ENTER 
MANUALLY: 668.00 per month 

     
Amount of payment to adopters or special guardian 668.00 167 x 4 

     

Minus child benefit for child/children who are subject of this application                                                     
ENTER MANUALLY: 89.7 per month 

   
Final payment to adopters or special guardian: 578.30 per month 

  133.45 weekly payment 

  

Page 34



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 18 
 
 
 

 
 
Example 3 
 
I am a level 2 foster carer with a total household income of £4,500 per month and would like to take 
an SGO in relation to my 15 year old foster child. 
 
For the first 2 years unless there is a significant change in your financial circumstances you will continue to 
receive the amount you were getting as a foster carer (£242) minus any child related benefits to which you 
are entitled. The maintenance element will increase from the date the child becomes 16 years old to create 
an overall payment of £269).  You will continue to receive the skills element of your payment during this 
initial 2 year period.  The allowance will change in line with changes to Rochdale Borough Council fostering 
allowances.  If changes in line with fostering allowances do occur then these will usually take effect from 1st 
April.   
 
A general review of support needs will take place annually and this will usually include a financial 
assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will continue to be paid.   
 
After 2 years the skills payment element will usually cease and the general review of support needs will  
include a financial assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will 
continue to be paid. 
 
Given the level of your income it is highly likely that the standard mean’s test model will determine that no 
further allowance is payable. 
 
Should your financial circumstances e.g. through redundancy or retirement, we will re-assess your 
circumstances using the standards means test model. 
 
 
Worked Example Year 3+ 
 
 

1) PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME  

   
i) Pay Parent 1 Parent 2 

Basic net monthly pay 
                  
2,000.00  2500 

Drawings if self employed     

Total subsection 1i 
                  
4,500.00    

   
ii) Benefits and pensions (parents) Parent 1 Parent 2 

Employers' sick pay (after compulsory deductions) 0 0 

Incapacity benefit 0 0 

Statutory maternity, paternity and/or adoption pay and/or maternity 
allowance 0 0 

Bereavement benefit 0 0 

Page 35



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 19 
 
 
 

Working tax credit (if paid directly and not as part of pay and excluding 
any childcare element paid) 0 0 

All pension payments being received 0   

Other benefits 0 0 

Total subsection 1ii 0   

   
iii) Benefits (family/children)     

Income Support/Jobseeker's Allowance per household 0   

Child tax credit per household  63.92   

Child benefit for each child, excluding child/children who are the subject 
of this assessment application 0   

Total subsection 1iii 63.92   

   
iv) Other sources of income     

Income from capital, savings and investments - net monthly interest 0   

Income from boarders/lodgers (see guidance for details of calculation) 0   

Income from unfurnished properties 0   

Income from furnished properties 0   

Maintenance payments received for any child in household 0   

Existing adoption or special guardian 'allowances' (including any 
enhancements or specific payments for special needs) paid for any child 0   

Total subsection 1iv 0   

   

v) Income relating to child(ren) being adopted or becoming a 
special guardian child     

Any regular interest on capital and/or income in which the child(ren) has 
a legal interest and entitlement e.g. trust fund, property or other type of 
legacy.  Do not include payments from Criminal Injuries Compensation 
Awards 0   

Any other income 0   

Total subsection 1v 0   

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME 4563.92  

DISREGARD FIRST 20% 912.784  
FAMILY INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF TEST 3651.136  

 
 

2) PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE  

   
i) Home     

Page 36



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 20 
 
 
 

Mortgage payments (capital and interest) including any endowment 
payments linked to mortgage     

Rent (after any housing benefit payable)     

Council tax (after any council tax benefit payable) £122.61   

Total subsection 2i  £122.61   

   
ii) Other outgoings    

Loan repayments for essential purposes (see guidance notes) 0  
Maintenance payments 0  
Court orders 0  
Private pension contributions 200  
National insurance if self employed 0  

Reasonable child care costs including nursery fees (after any childcare 
element paid as part of the working tax credit) 0  

Total subsection 2ii 200  

   
iii) Core regular family expenditure    

Based on 125% income support allowances per household 975.15  
Total subsection 2iii 975.15  

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE: 1297.76  

 
 
 

CALCULATION    
     

Total projected net family income (per month): 3651.14  
Total projected family expenditure (per month): 1297.76  

Disposable income (per month): 2353.38  
     

Local Authority Maximum Payment                                        ENTER 
MANUALLY: 776.00 194 x 4 

     
Amount of payment to adopters or special guardian -400.69  

     

Minus child benefit for child/children who are subject of this application                                                     
ENTER MANUALLY: 89.7 per month 

   
Final payment to adopters or special guardian: -490.39 per month 

  -113.17 weekly payment 

 
 

Page 37



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 21 
 
 
 

Year 3 – due to level of income, the outcome of the means test assessment is a negative amount therefore 
no further payments are to be made by Rochdale BC. 
  

Page 38



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 22 
 
 
 

  

Rochdale Borough Council 

Number One Riverside 

Smith Street 

Rochdale OL16 1YH 

 

  rochdale.gov.uk 

  01706 647474 

  council@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 39


	Agenda
	5 Special Guardianship
	19 05 17 Final report
	Special Guardianship Support Policy Document Draft V8  cons final PdF_


